

Agency for Support for BEREC (BEREC Office) Working with us in 2025



Table of Contents

1.		INTRODUCTION	.3
2.		CATEGORIES OF STAFF USED BY THE BEREC OFFICE	.3
3.		STAFF COVERED BY THESTAFF REGULATIONS AND CEOS	.3
3	3.1.	Temporary Agents	.3
3	3.2.	Contract Agents	. 4
4.		OTHER CONTRACTS	.5
4	1.1.	Seconded National Experts	.5
4	1.2.	Interim Staff	.5
4	1.3.	Trainees	.5
5.		TALENT MANAGEMENT	.6
6.		ALLOWANCES AND BENEFITS	.6
6	3.1.	,	
	•	Expatriation allowance	.7
	•	Foreign residence allowance	.7
6	3.2.	Family allowances	.7
	•	Household allowance	.7
	•	Dependent child allowance	.7
	•	Education allowances	.7
	•	Birth grant	.7
6	3.3.	Allowances when taking up duty	.8
	•	Installation allowance	.8
	•	Daily subsistence allowance	.8
	•	Removal and travel expenses	.8
7.		DEDUCTIONS	.9
7	7.1.	Taxations	.9
7	7.2.	Pension	.9
8.		LEAVE AND ABSENCES	10
9.		WORK-LIFE BALANCE	10
10.	ı	OTHER BENEFITS	10
11.	ı	INTEGRITY AND ETHICAL VALUES	11
1	1.1	I. Managing conflict of interest1	12
11.		2. Other aspects of the ethical behaviour	13



11.3.	Fraud prevention and whistleblowing policy	14
12. D	ISCLAIMER	14
Annex I:	: Basic salary table Temporary Agents	15
Annex II	l: Basic salary table Contract Agents	17
	II: Goods and services intended for personal needs of the stafth the Value Added Tax is refunded by the Host Member State	• •
Annex I	V: Functions of the Liaison Office	19



1. INTRODUCTION

The Agency for Support for BEREC is established by Regulation (EU) 2018/1971 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 establishing the Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications (BEREC) and the Agency for Support for BEREC (BEREC Office), amending Regulation (EU) 2015/2120 and repealing Regulation (EC) No 1211/2009.

The BEREC Office is established as a body of the European Union (EU) with legal personality to provide professional and administrative support services to BEREC, which is a body of the EU without a legal personality.

BEREC contributes to the development and better functioning of the internal market for electronic communications networks and services. It does so, by aiming to ensure a consistent application of the EU regulatory framework and by aiming to promote an effective internal market in the telecoms' sector, in order to bring even greater benefits to consumers and businesses alike.

The BEREC Office is an EU Agency supporting BEREC in the fulfilment of its mission to ensure the consistent implementation of the European regulatory framework for electronic communications. To achieve this, the BEREC Office provides all necessary professional and administrative support for the work of BEREC, including financial, organisational and ICT services, and contributes to BEREC's regulatory work for the benefit of people in Europe.

More information on the BEREC Office <u>tasks and mission</u> can be found on the BEREC and BEREC Office website.

2. CATEGORIES OF STAFF USED BY THE BEREC OFFICE

The BEREC Office is staffed mainly by temporary and contract agents, recruited through open selection procedures. The working and contractual conditions of the BEREC Office temporary and contract agents are based on the Staff Regulations and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Union (CEOS).

The BEREC Office may make use of seconded national experts or other staff not employed by it, such as interim agents. The Staff Regulations and the CEOS do not apply to such staff.

To offer the possibility to young university graduates to gain experience in the work of the EU and in the BEREC Office activities, the Agency has deployed a Traineeship Programme in accordance with conditions laid down by the Management Board¹.

3. STAFF COVERED BY THESTAFF REGULATIONS AND CEOS

3.1. Temporary agents

In accordance with Article 8 of the CEOS, temporary agents are engaged for a fixed period which may be renewed for another period or an indefinite period. To motivate staff to consider long-term employment at BEREC Office, the Head of the Agency (the Director) via Internal

¹For more details, see: https://berec.europa.eu/eng/berec_office/traineeship/aim_of_the_traineeship/



Administrative Instruction (IAI) No 2 of 2018 on the duration and renewal of contracts for temporary staff under article 2(f) of the CEOS, has decided to offer the possibility for Temporary Agents to benefit from a contract of indefinite duration upon completing three years' service.

Temporary Agent posts are classified according to the nature and importance of duties required:

Administrators' function group (AD): comprises twelve grades from AD 5 to AD 16 corresponding to technical, administrative, advisory, linguistic and scientific duties. Depending on the background and expertise required for the post, recruitment grades are usually between AD 5 and AD 8. Higher grades are used for specific profiles, mostly for management positions.

Assistants' function group (AST): comprises eleven grades from AST 1 to AST 11 corresponding to executive, technical and clerical duties.

Temporary Agents are required to serve a probationary period of nine months.²

3.2. Contract agents

The duration of contracts for contract agents varies according to the needs of the Agency. Most contract agents receive their first contract for a duration of 3 years. The contract may be renewed in accordance with Article 85 of the CEOS.

Contract agent posts are classified in four function groups (FG) corresponding to the duties and responsibilities involved:

- FG IV: comprises six grades corresponding to administrative, advisory, linguistic and equivalent technical tasks
- FG III: comprises five grades corresponding to executive tasks, drafting, accountancy and other equivalent technical tasks
- FG II: comprises four grades corresponding to clerical and secretarial tasks, office management and other equivalent tasks
- FG I: comprises three grades corresponding to manual and administrative support service tasks

There are special provisions for Contract Agents FG IV concerning contract renewals for an indefinite period. Those BEREC Office staff members who will be employed as Contract Agents in FG IV should be informed that in accordance with Article 85(3) of the CEOS, Contract Agents in FG IV shall, before renewal of a contract for an indefinite period may be offered, be required to demonstrate the ability to work in a third language (at B2 level) among those referred to in 55(1) of the Treaty on European Union. The BEREC Office provides access to training for those staff members who require it.

Contract agents whose contracts are concluded for at least one year are required to serve a probationary period of nine months for FG II-IV, and six months for FG I

² The Conditions of Employment for Temporary Agents are described in the Staff Regulations and in the Conditions of Employment of other Servants of the European Union in Title II (Articles 8–56).



4. OTHER CONTRACTS

4.1. Seconded national experts

Seconded national experts (SNEs) are staff employed by national, regional or local public administrations or public intergovernmental organisations (IGO) who are seconded to the Agency under the rules applicable to such experts. They have a dual role: to bring their experience to the Agency and to transfer the knowledge acquired during their secondment at BEREC Office to their home administration.

Secondment is not equivalent to Agency employment, nor does it lead to employment by the Agency. SNEs shall remain in the service of their employer throughout the period of secondment. During such time they will remain subject to the social security legislation applicable to their employer, who will assume responsibility for permissible expenses incurred abroad. SNEs are entitled to a daily and monthly subsistence allowance, paid by the Agency, during the period of secondment.

The place of secondment is Riga.

4.2. Interim staff

To address specific short-term needs, the BEREC Office may use interim staff services for limited periods of time to cover staffing needs arising from one or more of the following reasons:

- replacement of staff on maternity leave, parental leave, leave on personal grounds or extended sick leave;
- · temporary replacement for vacant posts to bridge the gap before recruitment;
- increased workload during peak periods of the year or generated by short-term specific projects;
- staff with specific competencies needed for limited period and which are not available at the BEREC Office.

Interim assignments have an initial maximum duration of up to 6 months. The labour contract signed with the interim workers are subject to the Latvian labour law and are signed between the interim worker and the interim agency, with which the BEREC Office has a contract for the provision of interim staff services.

Consequently, the interim staff are employees of the respective interim agency and not of the BEREC Office.

4.3. Trainees

In 2016 the BEREC Office introduced a Traineeship Programme. Traineeships are intended to offer the possibility to gain experience in the work of the European Union in general and in the work of the BEREC Office in particular. The BEREC Office aims to benefit from the input of specific skills of enthusiastic trainees, who will contribute to the enhancement of its daily work. Admission to the traineeship programme does not give trainees the status of staff of the European Union, and does not confer on trainees the statutes of officials or other servants of



the European Union nor does it entail any right or priority with regard to an appointment in the service of BEREC Office. Trainees can apply to BEREC Office selection procedures under the same conditions of any other candidate.

Trainees are entitled to a monthly grant, updated every year, amounting to 25% of a basic monthly salary of a temporary agent at grade AD5, step 4.

The trainees sign a Traineeship agreement with the BEREC Office, which defines their rights and responsibilities and is the basis for the payment of the grant. The Traineeship agreement is not an employment contract.

More information is published on the BEREC Office website under the section "Traineeships".

5. TALENT MANAGEMENT

In order to effectively contribute to the Agency mission, the BEREC Office aims to continuously develop the professional skills of its employees and consequently to improve their overall performance. For this purpose, the Agency provides a variety of training activities of both general and technical nature. This includes management, incl. project management, soft skills, finance, IT training, data protection, procurement, specific up-to-date technical training for staff working in technical areas and language training.

Temporary and contract agents at the Agency are subject to an annual performance appraisal. At the start of the reporting period, objectives are agreed between the line manager and the jobholder in order to establish the expected achievements of the jobholder. The purpose of the appraisal system is to assess performance during a certain time period against related annual objectives of the jobholder. The annual evaluation encourages jobholders to develop their potential and to consider possible career advancement. A reclassification policy is applied on an annual basis and guarantees performance-based career advancement in the function group.

6. ALLOWANCES AND BENEFITS

In addition to a basic salary³ as shown in Annexes I and II, temporary and contract agents may receive various allowances depending on their personal circumstances. The final salary is calculated by adding the relevant allowances and by deducting social security contributions and other taxes.

Each grade is divided into seniority steps with corresponding salary increases. Staff are granted an additional seniority step automatically every two years. The remuneration of the officials and other servants of the European Union shall be adapted every year, taking into account the economic and social policy of the Union. To offset the higher or lower cost of living in Riga compared with Brussels, the remuneration is weighted by applying a coefficient.

The current correction coefficient for Latvia is 84.10% (as of 01.07.2024).

The main benefits, deductions and contributions are summarized below. This information is

³ If you work in a European Union country other than Belgium or Luxembourg, a specific weighting (correction coefficient) is applied to your pay. This weighting makes it possible to offset the higher or lower cost of living compared with Brussels.



indicative as entitlements are determined upon recruitment, and only once the relevant supporting documents are provided.

6.1. Expatriation or foreign residence allowance

• Expatriation allowance

Staff fulfilling conditions as detailed in Article 4 of Annex VII of the SR are granted an expatriation allowance.

The allowance is equal to 16% of total basic salary plus a household allowance and a dependent child allowance to which the Agent may be entitled. The expatriation allowance shall not be less than 694.07⁴ € per month for Temporary Agents € or 498.94⁵ € per month for Contracted Agents (as of 01.04.2025).

• Foreign residence allowance

Staff who do not fulfil the conditions for the expatriation allowance above may still qualify for a foreign residence allowance, equal to one quarter of the expatriation allowance⁶.

6.2. Family allowances

Staff may receive one or more of the following allowances depending on their family situation.

Household allowance

Comprises 2% of basic salary plus a fixed amount of 234.18 € (as of 01.04.2025)⁷.

Dependent child allowance

Per month and per dependent child: 511.71 € (amount as of 01.04.2025)8.

Education allowances

Pre-school allowance: 125.01 € per child, per month (amount as of 01.04.2025). Education allowance up to a maximum of 347.20 € (amount on 01.04.2025) per month for each dependent child, which can be doubled in some cases⁹.

Birth grant

The birth grant is 198.31 € per child in case of birth or adoption of a child¹⁰.

⁴ For more information please refer to Article 21 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants.

⁵ For more information please refer to Article 134 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants.

⁶ For more information please refer to Annex VII, Articles 21 and 92 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants.

⁷ For more information please refer to Articles 21 and 92 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants

⁸ For more information please refer to Articles 21 and 92 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants

⁹ For more information please refer to Articles 21 and 92 Annex VII of the of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants

¹⁰ For more information please refer to Articles 29 and 97 of the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants



6.3. Allowances when taking up duty

Installation allowance

The installation allowance is paid to temporary/contract agents who provide proof that they had to change their place of residence to meet the requirements of Article 20 of the SR. The installation allowance can only be paid after the probationary period, once the contract of employment is confirmed.

The installation allowance varies between one third of a basic salary to twice a basic salary depending on contract duration and family situation.¹¹

• Daily subsistence allowance

A daily subsistence allowance is paid to temporary/contract agents who provide evidence that a change in their place of residence is required in order to comply with Article 20 of the SR. This allowance is intended to offset costs and inconvenience caused by the need to move or take up temporary residence at the place of employment while retaining, on an equally temporary basis, a residence at the place of recruitment or previous employment.

The daily subsistence allowance is granted for the following period:

- In the case of temporary/contract agents engaged for a period of not less than one year:
 - who are not entitled to the household allowance: 120 days;
 - who are entitled to household allowance but not subject to a probation period: 180 days;
 - who are entitled to the household allowance and subject to a probation period: duration of probation period plus one month;
- In the case of temporary/contract agents engaged for a fixed period of less than one year: the duration of their contract, up to a maximum of one year.

The daily allowance is not paid beyond the date on which the removal is carried out. Scale of daily subsistence allowance (amounts as of 01.04.2025):

- temporary/contract agent entitled to household allowance: 53.79 € per day;
- temporary/contract agent not entitled to household allowance: 43.38 € per day

• Removal and travel expenses

Agents with a contract duration of at least twelve months are entitled to reimbursement of removal expenses up to the amount of a quotation approved in advance.¹² The removal expenses cannot be reimbursed before the end of the probationary period.

On taking up duties, Agents are entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses from the place of recruitment to the place of employment for themselves and their family¹³.

¹¹ For more information please refer to Articles 24 and 94 of the conditions of employment of other servants of the European Union

¹² For more information please refer to Annex VII, Article 9 of the Staff Regulations and Article 22 of the conditions of employment of other servants of the European Union

¹³ For more information please refer to Annex VII, Article 7 of the Staff Regulations and Articles 22 and 67 of the Conditions of employment of other servants of the European Union



Similar allowances such as resettlement allowance¹⁴, removal to place of origin¹⁵ or reimbursement of travel costs may be granted at the end of service.

7. DEDUCTIONS

7.1. Taxations

Salaries and allowances paid by BEREC Office are exempt from any national taxation in all EU Member States, but subject to a European tax (deducted at source) for the benefit of the European Union.

This tax is levied progressively at a rate of between 8% and 45% of the taxable portion of the salary.

A solidarity levy¹⁶ (6%) calculated on the part of the remuneration exceeding the minimum remuneration.

Social security contributions (% of basic salary):

- Pension (12.1%)
- Health insurance (1.70%)
- Accident cover (0.10%)
- Unemployment insurance (0.81%)

Temporary and contract staff of the BEREC Office are covered 24/7 and worldwide, by the EU Joint Sickness Insurance Scheme (JSIS). The JSIS coverage for family members is usually ensured but will depend on individual circumstances.

Before commencement of duties, new staff members are required to undergo a preemployment medical examination. In addition, BEREC Office staff members are required to undergo an annual medical check-up.

7.2. Pension

Throughout the period of service, Agents are members of the EU pension scheme. The pension is granted after completing a minimum of ten years' service or reaching the pensionable age. For staff entering service after 1 January 2014¹⁷ the pensionable age is currently 66 years. Pension rights acquired in one or more national schemes before starting to work at the Agency may be transferred into the EU pension scheme.

¹⁴ For more information please refer to Annex VII, Article 6 of the Staff Regulations

¹⁵ For more information please refer to Annex X, Article 21 of the Staff Regulations

¹⁶ As provided under recital 11 of Regulation 1023/2013, the solidarity levy is a counterpart to the Method for updating remuneration and pensions. In its recent <u>report</u> on the implementation of Annex XI to the SR, the Commission took the view that in line with Article 15(3) of Annex XI to the SR, the Commission will rely on the provisional application of the current Method beyond 2023.

¹⁷ For more information, please refer to Article 52 of the Staff Regulations.



8. LEAVE AND ABSENCES

A standard working week at BEREC Office is 40 hours. Agency staff members are entitled to annual leave of 24 working days plus BEREC Office Public Holidays¹⁸ (17-18 days). In addition to this entitlement, leave days are granted for age and grade. Staff members who receive expatriation or foreign residence allowance are also granted an additional 2.5 days as 'home leave'. Special leave can be granted for certain circumstances such as marriage, birth or adoption of a child, death of a close relative, etc.

9. WORK-LIFE BALANCE

The Agency enables staff members to reconcile their family and professional life by offering flexible working arrangements, such as part-time work and parental leave. Mothers are entitled to 20 weeks maternity leave and fathers to 10 days paternity leave while continuing to receive their regular salary. Staff is entitled to 12 months of parental leave per child with basic monthly allowance entitlement of 6 months and extension for a further 6 months with a 50% reduction in the monthly allowance.

In addition, the Agency has implemented a hybrid method of work which implies a combination of teleworking¹⁹ and working at the office. The daily working hours are divided into interaction and flexible time slots. The interaction time slots are the time of the day when staff members are obliged to be available for interaction. Flexible time slots mean that the Agency staff members are free to choose their time of commencement or finishing of the working day.

10. OTHER BENEFITS

The Agency staff may be entitled to other benefits, such as:

- Upon taking up duties, VAT exemption on a range of services and products²⁰ under the conditions of the Headquarters Agreement between the BEREC Office and the Government of the Republic of Latvia, in force as of 15 June 2021²¹;
- Reimbursement of tuition fees for dependent children (in the sense of Article 2 (2) of Annex VII of the Staff Regulation) in regular full-time attendance at primary or secondary level at the main international schools in Latvia from the age of five²²;
- Financial support for the attendance of kindergartens and nurseries for dependent

https://berec.europa.eu/eng/document_register/subject_matter/berec_office/others/9989-headquarters-agreement-between-the-agency-for-support-for-the-body-of-european-regulators-for-electronic-communications-and-the-government-of-the-republic-of-latvia

¹⁸ See, BEREC Office Public Holidays for 2025, https://www.berec.europa.eu/en/all-documents/berec-office/others/public-holidays-for-2025-of-the-agency-for-support-for-berec

¹⁹ Teleworking is an arrangement that enables staff to work remotely either from the place of employment or outside the place of employment during working days instead of working in the office. Whilst teleworking, staff can access all the BEREC Office corporate tools in the usual IT environment.

²⁰ Annex III – full list of products and services VAT exempted

²¹ For more information, see:

²² Currently, in the absence of the European School, the Latvian Authorities committed themselves to support the international schooling for children of BEREC Office staff. The BEREC Office introduced the reimbursement of tuition fees as a temporary measure, which may be repealed as soon as the Latvian Authorities will implement support measures.



children of the BEREC Office staff members attending or applying to kindergartens located in Latvia that have signed an agreement with the BEREC Office;

• Legal support for private matters in the host member state and other.

The BEREC Office, in cooperation with the Latvian authorities, also offers to its staff support in their establishment in Latvia. This may include assistance to the Agency's staff, members of their family forming part of their household and trainees upon settlement and during their stay in Latvia, for example, assistance with housing matters, car registrations, registration at OCMA (if needed), applications for allowances provided by the local authorities (for example, child/family allowances, (pre-)school allowances) where applicable, other administrative matters with Latvian authorities, ensuring access to medical care, opening bank accounts, concluding phone/internet/other service contracts.

The staff, as well as members of their family forming part of their household, have access to support and advice in the following areas:

- Accommodation and residence in the Republic of Latvia for the Agency's staff and members of their family forming part of their household;
- Providing information to the Agency on facilitated access to the labour market, day care facilities, schools and universities and insurance upon request of the Agency.

These services are provided by a Liaison Office, established by the Government of the host Member State, whose full list of services can be consulted in Annex IV.

11. INTEGRITY AND ETHICAL VALUES

In accordance with the BEREC Office founding act²³, the Staff regulations²⁴ and the CEOS and the BEREC Office internal control framework²⁵ the BEREC Office staff are required to **demonstrate a commitment to integrity and ethical values**. The BEREC Office expectations on integrity and ethical values are set out in standards of conduct and understood at all levels of the organisation, as well as by entrusted bodies, outsourced service providers and beneficiaries.

All management levels are also required to respect high standards of integrity and ethical values in their instructions, actions and behaviour in order to set the 'tone at the top'.

To ensure compliance with these requirements the BEREC Office has put in place internal processes and procedures to assess whether individuals and units are aligned with the BEREC Office's expected standards of conduct and to address deviations in a timely manner.

In the sections below you can find short description of the rules and procedures in place. In case of need of more information, please address your request to the recruitment@berec.europa.eu functional mailbox.

²³ Regulation (EU) 2018/1971 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 establishing the Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications (BEREC) and the Agency for Support for BEREC (BEREC Office), amending Regulation (EU) 2015/2120 and repealing Regulation (EC) No 1211/2009, OJ L 321, 17.12.2018, p. 1–35

²⁴ Specifically Articles 11 to 26a

 $^{^{25}}$ See, $\underline{\text{https://berec.europa.eu/en/document-categories/berec-office/others/berec-office-internal-control-framework}$



11.1. Managing conflict of interest

As the EU is increasingly entrusted with greater powers, the public trust in the EU administration is essential. Any perception that people who serve the public pursue private interests that conflict with their public work is therefore highly damaging.

Consequently, the conflict of interest of the members of the Management Board, the Director, the BEREC Office staff, seconded national experts and other staff not employed by the BEREC Office is assessed throughout the whole cycle of their engagement with the BEREC Office.

Conflict of interest is any situation in which **any personal interest** (in particular family and financial interest) that **compromises** the independence of the concerned persons **or that can reasonably be perceived** as comprising their independence in dealing with a working-related matter or can harm interests of Union.

Any conflict of interest or doubt about such needs to be declared and will be assessed, incl. in the following cases:

- a. Before employment:
 - Declaration of Interests of recruited candidates
- b. During employment:
 - Declaration of spouse employment
 - Declarations of any ad hoc conflict of interest
- c. At the end and/or after the end of employment:
 - Declaration to engage to any occupation activity after leaving the service ('revolving door').

When public officials leave the administration to take up positions in the private sector, they are described as going through the 'revolving door'. While former staff members have a fundamental right to engage in work after they leave the EU administration, this must be balanced against the risks that any such moves may pose to the interests of the EU and the public interest.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 16 of the Staff Regulations all BEREC Office staff members covered by the Staff Regulations and the CEOS, who leaves the Agency, irrespectively of their grade, functional group of seniority, have the obligation to declare any future engagement in an occupational activity, whether gainful or not.

This obligation applies for a period of **2 years after leaving the service**, and any former staff member wishing to perform occupational activities after leaving the service must inform the authority authorised to conclude contracts of employment (AACC).

If that activity is related to the work carried out by the staff member **during the last 3 years of service** and could lead to a conflict with the legitimate interests of the BEREC Office, the AACC may forbid the staff member from undertaking it or give its approval subject to any conditions it sees necessary.



In the case of former senior officials the AACC shall prohibit them during the 12 months after leaving the service from engaging in lobbying or advocacy vis-à-vis BEREC Office staff for their business, clients or employers on matters for which they were responsible during the last 3 years in the service.

For this specific purpose lobbying and advocacy activities vis-a-vis the BEREC Office includes all activities carried out with the objective of directly or indirectly influencing the formulation or implementation of policy and the decision-making processes by the Agency, irrespective of:

- · where they are undertaken and
- the channel or medium of communication used.

In compliance with Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council, the BEREC Office shall publish information on the assessment of 'revolving door' cases for senior officials, including a list of the cases assessed.

Further guidance on the implementation of Article 16 of the Staff Regulations is provided in Commission Decision C (2018) 4048 applicable to the BEREC Office staff by analogy.

11.2. Other aspects of the ethical behaviour

According to Article 12 of the Staff Regulations, the BEREC Office staff have to refrain from actions or behaviours, which might reflect negatively on their position.

To ensure compliance with the rules in place specific prior authorisation may be required in the following cases:

- a. Outside activities:
- b. According to Article 12b of the Staff Regulations any staff members wishing to engage in an outside activity, whether paid or unpaid, or to carry out any assignment outside the Communities, shall first obtain the permission of the Appointing Authority. Permission shall be refused only if the activity or assignment in question is such as to interfere with the performance of the official's duties or is incompatible with the interests of the institution.
- c. Relevant criteria of outside activity for receiving permission:
 - No interference with staff's duties (performance & working-hours)
 - Not incompatible with interests of the institution
 - Unpaid (unless BEREC Office can offer only part time agreement for the post)
 - Not in professional capacity/ not for commercial entity
 - No negative impact on the reputation of the institution
 - Impartiality and objectivity not appear to be compromised

The Appointing Authority may authorize the activity while imposing some restrictions or not grant such authorization.



- d. Gifts and Hospitality
- e. According to Article 11 Staff Regulations official/ staff member shall not without the permission of the appointing authority accept from any government or from any other source outside the institution to which he/she belongs any honour, decoration, favour, gift or payment of any kind whatever, except for services rendered either before his appointment or during special leave for military or other national service and in respect of such service.
- f. Publications and use of social media
- g. According to Article 17a of the Staff Regulations, an official/staff member has the right to freedom of expression, with due respect to the principles of loyalty and impartiality.
- h. Without prejudice to Articles 12 and 17, an official who intends to publish or cause to be published, whether alone or with others, any matter dealing with the work of the Union shall inform the Appointing Authority in advance.
- i. Where the Appointing Authority is able to demonstrate that the matter is liable seriously to prejudice the legitimate interests of the Union, the Appointing Authority shall inform the official of its decision in writing within 30 working days of receipt of the information. If no such decision is notified within the specified period, the Appointing Authority shall be deemed to have had no objections.

11.3. Fraud prevention and whistleblowing policy

Staff members must comply with the BEREC Office's anti-fraud principles and strategy, forward any reasonable concerns with the regard to fraud to the appropriate reporting channel foreseen by the BEREC Office whistleblowing policy (to their reporting officer/to the Director of the BEREC Office/to the Chair of the Management Board/to OLAF).

12. DISCLAIMER

This document is prepared as an information tool for the public and new BEREC Office staff and has no binding power.

In the event of discrepancies with the legal provisions in force and the current document, the text of the respective legal act will prevail.



Annex I: Basic salary table Temporary Agents²⁶

Basic monthly salaries for each grade and step <u>for Temporary Agent in function groups</u> <u>AD and AST</u> are provided in the following table:

As of 01/04/2025	Step							
Grade	1 2		3	4	5			
16	23,235.49	24,211.88	25,229.29					
15	20,536.29	21,399.27	22,298.46	22,918.85	23,235.49			
14	18,150.61	18,913.36	19,708.12	19,708.12	20,536.29			
13	16,042.15	16,716.25	17,418.66	17,903.32	18,150.61			
12	14,178.56	14,774.36	15,395.22	15,823.52	16,042.15			
11	12,531.47	13,058.05	13,606.77	13,985.35	14,178.56			
10	11,075.76	11,541.15	12,026.14	12,360.71	12,531.47			
9	9,789.10	10,200.45	10,629.11	10,924.80	11,075.76			
8	8,651.92	9,015.49	9,394.33	9,655.70	9,789.10			
7	7,646.86	7,968.20	8,303.02	8,534.04	8,651.92			
6	6,758.53	7,042.56	7,338.47	7,542.66	7,646.86			
5	5,973.44	6,224.44	6,486.00	6,666.47	6,758.53			
4	5,279.52	5,501.36	5,732.53	5,892.04	5,973.44			
3	4,666.18	4,862.29	5,066.60	5,207.55	5,279.52			
2	4,124.14	4,297.44	4,478.02	4,602.62	4,666.18			
1	3,645.04	3,798.21	3,957.81	4,067.97	4,124.14			

 $^{^{26}}$ In Latvia, the weighting is applied (remuneration = remuneration in euros x the correction coefficient (84.10% as of 01.07.2024).



Basic monthly salaries for each grade and step $\underline{\text{in function group AST/SC}}$ are provided in the following table:

As of 01/04/2025	STEPS					
GRADES	1	2	3	4	5	
6	5,926.03	6,104.68	6,361.21	6,538.16	6,628.51	
5	5,237.60	5,395.50	5,623.03	5,778.65	5,858.50	
4	4,629.18	4,768.72	4,969.13	5,107.36	5,177.91	
3	4,091.41	4,214.75	4,391.89	4,514.05	4,576.42	
2	3,616.12	3,725.16	3,881.70	3,989.67	4,044.78	
1	3,196.06	3,292.41	3,430.77	3,526.19	3,574.91	



Annex II: Basic salary table Contract Agents²⁷

Basic monthly salaries for each grade and step for Contract Agents are provided in the following table:

Function group	01/04/2025	Step						
	Grade	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
IV	18	8,009.86	8,083.25	8,251.32	8,422.94	8,598.12	8,776.91	8,959.41
	17	7,079.34	7,144.17	7,292.75	7,444.42	7,599.23	7,757.25	7,918.57
	16	6,256.88	6,314.21	6,445.52	6,579.56	6,716.40	6,856.09	6,998.66
	15	5,529.97	5,580.64	5,696.72	5,815.18	5,936.13	6,059.55	6,185.58
	14	4,887.55	4,932.33	5,034.91	5,139.60	5,246.53	5,355.58	5,466.95
	13	4,319.72	4,359.32	4,449.97	4,542.54	4,636.98	4,733.42	4,831.85
III	12	5,529.90	5,580.56	5,696.63	5,815.08	5,935.98	6,059.43	6,185.43
	11	4,887.52	4,932.27	5,034.84	5,139.53	5,246.42	5,355.51	5,466.88
	10	4,319.71	4,359.29	4,449.95	4,542.51	4,636.95	4,733.39	4,831.82
	9	3,817.90	3,852.89	3,933.01	4,014.81	4,098.30	4,183.50	4,270.48
	8	3,374.39	3,405.31	3,476.14	3,548.40	3,622.21	3,697.52	3,774.40
II	7	3,817.82	3,852.83	3,932.95	4,014.74	4,098.28	4,183.50	4,270.49
	6	3,374.24	3,405.14	3,475.98	3,548.28	3,622.08	3,697.41	3,774.31
	5	2,982.17	3,009.49	3,072.10	3,136.00	3,201.21	3,267.81	3,335.79
	4	2,635.66	2,659.83	2,715.16	2,771.63	2,829.27	2,888.12	2,948.18
I	3	3,246.94	3,276.54	3,344.56	3,413.96	3,484.80	3,557.15	3,630.99
	2	2,870.43	2,896.60	2,956.73	3,018.09	3,080.74	3,144.68	3,209.93
	1	2,537.59	2,560.76	2,613.88	2,668.11	2,723.51	2,780.02	2,837.71

²⁷ In Latvia, the weighting is applied (remuneration = remuneration in euros x the correction coefficient (84.10% as of 01.07.2024).



Annex III: Goods and services intended for personal needs of the staff of the Agency for which the Value Added Tax is refunded by the Host Member State

1. Goods:

- 1.1. land vehicles, equipment, spare parts, lubricants and fuel stipulated in the laws and regulations of the Republic of Latvia regarding road traffic and vehicle registration;
- 1.2. interior objects of premises;
- 1.3. office equipment, components and accessories thereof, including spare parts;
- 1.4. household appliances:
 - 1.4.1. electric appliances;
 - 1.4.2. audio equipment and video equipment;
 - 1.4.3. photographic equipment and accessories thereof;
 - 1.4.4. mobile phones and accessories thereof;
- 1.5. security systems for the protection of persons and property.

2. Services:

- 2.1. repair and maintenance of land vehicles;
 - 2.1.1. transport services for carriage of the goods referred to in Paragraph 1 of this Annex:
- 2.2. services for interior designing, including making and mounting of interior objects;
- 2.3. repair and maintenance of office equipment and household appliances;
- 2.4. services for ensuring the protection of persons and property;
- 2.5. electronic communications services;
- 2.6. radio and television broadcasting services.



Annex IV: Functions of the Liaison Office

1. Information sessions:

- Regular information sessions to newcomers to the Agency, oriented to facilitating the establishment in the host Member State and taking up the duties in Riga;
- Ad-hoc information sessions on relevant topics upon request, which should have the objective to facilitate the life of staff members and/or their family members in Latvia.
- Provide assistance to the Agency's staff and/or experts in preparing mandatory documents to be issued in line with the HQ Agreement, for example, requests for special identification cards (applications for new ID cards or renewal of old ID cards), protocol list, requests for visas for the Agency staff and persons invited to BEREC/BEREC Office events, and other as required.
- 3. Assist the Agency's staff, members of their family forming part of their household and trainees upon settlement and during their stay in the Republic of Latvia, for example, assistance with housing matters, car registrations, registration at OCMA (if needed), applications for allowances provided by the local authorities (for example, child/family allowances, (pre-)school allowances) where applicable, other administrative matters with Latvian authorities, ensuring access to medical care, opening bank accounts, concluding phone/internet/other service contracts.
- 4. Provide support and advice to the Agency and its staff, as well as members of their family forming part of their household in the following areas upon request:
 - Accommodation and residence in the Republic of Latvia for the Agency's staff and members of their family forming part of their household;
 - Providing information to the Agency on facilitated access to the labour market, day care facilities, schools and universities and insurance upon request of the Agency.
- 5. Support with (international) schooling, for example, internal approval procedure and enrolment at such schools, liaising between schools/kindergartens and the Agency staff affected, provide contact point between Accredited European School when it is established and the Agency; assistance to the staff for enrolment of children in local schools/kindergartens, if the staff members decide to do so.
- 6. Distribute information from the Latvian authorities that directly affects the performance of duties and Agency's functions to the Agency's staff, for example, information regarding municipal elections, relevant changes in legislation that might affect staff/trainees living in Republic of Latvia, changes in legislation, which may affect the staff, etc.
- 7. Maintain relations with partners, service and commodity suppliers for ensuring normal functioning of the Agency.
- 8. Provide necessary support to facilitate the value added tax (hereinafter VAT) reimbursement process for the Agency's staff in accordance with the HQ Agreement and the Latvian legislation (when and if applicable).
- 9. Provide necessary support to facilitate the procurement procedures in the Republic of Latvia, including participation in a joint procurement with Latvian government institutions



- or use of Latvian e-procurement system and others.
- 10. In case of any interruption or threatened interruption of any public utility services, such as: electricity, water, sewerage, gas, post, telephone, data transmission lines, telegraph, local transport, drainage, refuse collection and fire protection, coordinate mitigation measures.
- 11. Support raising visibility and ensuring/pursuing/sustaining public communication of the Agency.
- 12. Participate in the organisation of events related to the presentation of the work of the Agency.
- 13. Coordinate cooperation between the Agency and the Latvian competent bodies for security related activities.
- 14. Organize meetings with Latvian authorities as needed, incl. drafting documents related to the meetings.
- 15. If necessary, cooperate with state and local government institutions, as well as natural and legal persons to assist with representation of interests of the Agency and members of their family forming part of their household.
- 16. Coordinate cooperation with the representations of EU institutions, bodies of the EU and international organizations in the Host Member State in order to identify the possible synergies in the activities or solve issues of common nature.
- 17. Ensure keeping of records and circulation of documents and provide clerical and administrative support to the Agency's entities.
- 18. Prepare replies and/or transmit documents for enforcement by jurisdiction.
- 19. Attend mandatory Agency's events and trainings, for example, staff meetings, mandatory trainings, off-site events on the expenses of the Agency.
- 20. Support to the entities of the Agency, incl. for organisation of events in support to the BEREC, ordering the necessary services and supplies, etc.